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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS

FLORINDA ZAMORA,
Plaintiff,
V. Case No. 17-CV-2261-JAR

UNIFIED GOVERNMENT OF WYANDOTTE
COUNTY AND KANSAS CITY, KANSAS,

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

Plaintiff Florinda Zamora (“Zamora”) bwgs this action against Defendant Unified
Government of Wyandotte County and Kansay,®ansas (the “UG")alleging that the UG
violated Title IX of the Educatn Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681seq, when it
terminated her employment at the Wyand@tainty Juvenile Deterth Center (“*JDC”) in
retaliation for reporting a coworkerinappropriate conduct towagdjuvenile resident. This
matter is now before the Court on the UG’stMp for Summary Judgment (Doc. 75). The
motion is fully briefed, and the Court is prepatedule. For the reasons set forth in depth
below, the UG’s motion is denied.

l. Summary Judgment Standard

Summary judgment is appropigaif the moving party demonstrates “that there is no

genuine dispute as to any maséfact” and that it is “entitletb judgment as a matter of law.”

In applying this standard, the Court views évedence and all reasonable inferences therefrom

'Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a).

Dockets.Justia.com


https://dockets.justia.com/docket/kansas/ksdce/2:2017cv02261/116663/
https://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/kansas/ksdce/2:2017cv02261/116663/83/
https://dockets.justia.com/

in the light most favordb to the nonmoving parfy.“There is no genuine [dispute] of material
fact unless the evidence, constiue the light most favorable to the non-moving party, is such
that a reasonable jugould return a verdidor the non-moving party®” A fact is “material” if,
under the applicable substantivevlat is “essential to the prep disposition of the clainf” A
dispute of fact is “genuine” if ftere is sufficient evidence on eagitle so that a rational trier of
fact could resolve the issue either way.”

The moving party initially must show the ahse of a genuine dispute of material fact
and entitlement to judgment as a matter of 9atm. attempting to meet this standard, a movant
who does not bear the ultimate burden of pesismeat trial need not negate the nonmovant’s
claim; rather, the movant need simply point twuthe court a lack afvidence for the nonmovant
on an essential element of the nonmovant’s claim.

Once the movant has met the initial burdestwwing the absence of a genuine dispute
of material fact, the burden shifts to the nonmopagy to “set forth specific facts showing that
there is a genuine issue for tri8l.The nonmoving party may nsimply rest upon its pleadings

to satisfy its burdef. Rather, the nonmoving party must “f&th specific facts that would be

2City of Herriman v. BeJl590 F.3d 1176, 1181 (10th Cir. 2010) (cit@gmoza v. Univ. of Denveil3
F.3d 1206, 1210 (10th Cir. 2008)).

3Bones v. Honeywell Int'l, Inc366 F.3d 869, 875 (10th Cir. 2004) (citiAgderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc
477 U.S. 242, 248, 255 (1986)).

“Wright ex rel. Tr. Co. of Kan. v. Abbott Labs., |59 F.3d 1226, 1231-32 (10th Cir. 2001) (citikudier
v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc144 F.3d 664, 670 (10th Cir. 1998)).

SAdler, 144 F.3d at 670 (citingnderson477 U.S. at 248).

6Spaulding v. United Transp. Unipa79 F.3d 901, 904 (10th Cir. 2002rt. deniedb37 U.S. 816 (2002)
(citing Celotex Corp. v. Catretdd77 U.S. 317, 322-23 (1986)).

"Adams v. Am. Guar. & Liab. Ins. C@33 F.3d 1242, 1246 (10th Cir. 2000) (citixgler, 144 F.3d at
671);see also Kannady v. City of Kiow#00 F.3d 1161, 1169 (10th Cir. 2010).

8Anderson477 U.S. at 256Celotex,477 U.S. at 324Spaulding 279 F.3d at 904 (quotingatsushita
Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Cory75 U.S. 574, 587 (1986)).

9Anderson477 U.S. at 25@ccord Eck v. Parke, Davis & C®56 F.3d 1013, 1017 (10th Cir. 2001).



admissible in evidence in the event of trial fraunich a rational trier ofact could find for the
nonmovant.*® In setting forth these specific factse nonmovant must identify the facts “by
reference to affidavits, depdsih transcripts, or specific exhibits incorporated theréinTo
successfully oppose summary judgment, the nonmtawvast bring forward “more than a mere
scintilla of evidence” irsupport of his positio®. A nonmovant “cannot create a genuine issue
of material fact with ungpported, conclusory allegations.”Finally, summary judgment is not a
“disfavored procedural short¢ubn the contrary, it is an iportant procedure “designed to
secure the just, speedy and inexpansetermination of every action®” When examining the
underlying facts of this case, the Courtdgnizant that it may not make credibility
determinations or weigh the evideri€e.
Il. Factual Background

A. Hearsay Objections to Zamora’s Statements of Fact

Before turning the parties’ statements of fact, the Court will briefly address the UG’s
objections to two of Zamora’s statementdamt. Summary judgment evidence need not be
“submitted ‘in a form that would be admissible at tridf."But “the content or substance of the

evidence must be admissibf€.”Under Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(2), a party may object on this

oMmitchell v. City of Moore, Okla218 F.3d 1190, 1197-98 (10th Cir. 2000) (quotder, 144 F.3d at
670-71);see Kannady590 F.3d at 1169.

Hadler, 144 F.3d at 671.
12/itkus v. Beatrice Col1 F.3d 1535, 1539 (10th Cir. 1993).

BTapia v. City of Albuguergud 70 F. App’x 529, 533 (10th Cir. 2006) (citidginett v. Univ. of Kan371
F.3d 1233, 1237 (10th Cir. 2004)).

YCelotex,477 U.S. at 327 (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 1).
BMatsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radi@5 U.S. 574, 587 (1986).

Brown v. Perez835 F.3d 1223, 1232 (10th Cir. 2016) (quofiigvizo v. Adams455 F.3d 1155, 1160
(10th Cir. 2006)).

17d. (quotingArgo v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Kan., [52 F.3d 1193, 1199 (10th Cir. 2006)).



basis—that the material “cannot peesented in a form that wallbe admissible in evidence.”
Indeed, as the advisory committee notes t@010 Federal Rule amendments explain: “The
burden is on the proponent to show that the nateradmissible as prested or to explain the
admissible form that is anticipatetf.”

The UG objects to Zamora’s Statements aft/8 and 117 on the bashat they contain
inadmissible hearsay, meaning a statement tieaddlarant does not make while testifying at
the current trial or hearing atidlat a party offers to provedtiruth of the matter asserted.
Hearsay is inadmissible except as provided by?*feand hearsay within hearsay is excluded
unless each part of the combined statement caorsfarith an exclusion from or exception to the
rule against hears&y.

Zamora'’s Statement of Fact 78 relies ondbposition testimony dfansas City, Kansas
Police Detective Vincent Kingston concerning staata made to him—during the course of his
investigation of the events underlying tbese—by JDC employee Ryan Schuler, about what
was said to Schuler by another JDC employeésd¢eDavis, concerning something Davis heard
from a Sheriff's Office employee, Andrew Carve®imilarly, Zamora’s Statement of Fact 117
refers to Davis’s “testimony” about the “exact wetfdamora said about Davis to another of the

Sheriff's Office employee, Daniel Anderson, winidnderson then repeated to Carver and

¥Fed. R. Civ. P. 56 advisory committee’s note to 2010 amendsemnglsdBrown, 835 F.3d at 1232
(“The requirement is that the party submitting the evidence show that it will be possible to put the information, the
substance or content of the evidence, into an adnedssilbbh.” (quoting 11 Jaméd’'m. Moore et al., Moore's
Federal Practice—Civil § 56.91 (3d ed. 2015)))Connor v. Williams640 F. App’x 747, 750 (10th Cir. 2016).

9Fed. R. Evid. 801(c).

2%Fed. R. Evid. 802 (“Hearsay is inadmissible unlessadrihe following provides otherwise: a federal
statute; these rules; or other rupgsscribed by the Supreme Court.”).

2Fed. R. Civ. P. 805.



Carver relayed to Davis. Thewsce cited to supportithfact is the depdson testimony of an
investigating Sheriff's detectiv§herry Simpson, about Davis’s unsworn statement to her.
It is not entirely clear which portions of thestatements of fact the UG objects to because the
UG makes largely identical factuassertions in its own briefirg. It appears that the UG
objects not to evidence offered to establish tiese conversations occudrer even the general
content of the conversations, but to evidence affémgrove the exact words that were said.
While Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1)(A) permits Zamaoasupport her factlassertions at the
summary judgment stage by citing to deposition testintdtiye content or substance of the
deposition testimony must be otherwise admisgblBamora does not argue for the
admissibility of the triple and quadruple hegrstatements contained within Kingston’s and
Simpson’s deposition testimony, and the Courtdind exclusion or excépn that applies for

each level of hears&y. Accordingly, while the Court dsenot omit facts relied upon by both

22See, e.g Doc. 76 11 71, 82; Doc. 82 at 12 § 56; 16 | 81.
23Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1)(A).

2Wunder v. Elettric 80, IngNo. 13-4014-KGS, 2014 WL 4059763, at *2 (D. Kan. Aug. 15, 2014)
(“[Allthough evidence presented in the form of an affitlar deposition testimony at the summary judgment stage
can be ‘converted’ in form into live testimony at triale content or substance must be otherwise admissible, and
any hearsay contained in an affidavit or deposition iesrfaearsay beyond a court’s consideration.” (citation
omitted)). Although not relied upon by Zamora, the same statements appear in Kingston’s and Simpson’s written
investigative reports, which are alsatpaf the record in this case.

25Carver, Anderson, Schuler, Davis, and Zamora were all UG employees, and a statement of a party
opponent is not hearsay under Fed. R. Civ. P. 801(B)(®)ien the statement is ‘ade by the party’s agent or
employee on a matter within the scope of that relationshimduile it existed.” Fed. R. Evid. 801(d)(2)(D). In the
employment context, however, the Tenth Circuit holds that “[ijn order for a statement to qualify as an adfréssion o
party opponent, the speaker ‘must be involved in the decision[-]Jmaking process affecting the employment actio
involved.” Jaramillo v. Colo. Judicial Dep/t427 F.3d 1303, 1314 (10th Cir. 2005) (per curiam) (qudtirajta v.
Nat'l R.R. Passenger Cor@315 F.3d 756, 762 (7th Cir. 2003§ge alsalohnson v. Weld Cty594 F.3d 1202,
1208-09 (10th Cir. 2010) (citingaramillo, 427 F.3d at 1314). None of these individuals “had management or final
decision-making authorityth the process leading to Zamora’s firinguHall v. Lennar Family of Builders382 F.
App’x 751, 755 (10th Cir. 2010¥ee alscEllis v. J.R.’s Country Stores, In@79 F.3d 1184, 1202-03 (10th Cir.
2015). Further, Zamora, the proponent of the evidandehe original speaker tife statement at issue in
Statement of Fact 117, is not a party opponent in her own 8asg.e.g., Jordan v. Binr&l2 F.3d 1123, 1127-28
(7th Cir. 2013) (citations omitted).



parties, it does exclude hearsay statemerdainora’s Statements of Fact 78 and 117 to the
extent that they are offered foretkruth of the matter asserted.

B. Uncontroverted Facts

With the above rules of law and evidencenimd, the following material facts are either
uncontroverted or, if controvied, construed in the ligimost favorable to Zamora.

1. Wyandotte County Juvenile Detention Center

The UG is a municipality located in Wiydotte County, Kansas City, Kansas, and a
recipient of federal financial assistancehe JDC is a division of the Wyandotte County
Sheriff’'s Office (“Sheriff's Ofice”) within the UG. The JDC is licensed by the Kansas
Department of Children and Family Services (‘BTas a child-care faliy under Kansas law,
and is subject to detailed regulations. DCkitars the JDC’s compliance with regulations and
can revoke its license for failure to comply.

The JDC is licensed to hold forty-eight juves, both male and female, from the ages of
ten to seventeen. JDC residents are juvafinders facing criminal charges; many have
behavioral problems and/or halveen raised in difficult enviroments. Some residents have
been abused, some are gang members, and manwg histery of substance abuse. The JDC is
a secure facility, and residents are not permittddawe. All entrances and exits are under the
exclusive control of the stafhd are continuously monitoredrResidents are housed in one of
four pods, each with eight to sixteen roomse Pplds are locked and access is limited; at night,
residents are required to betlreir rooms and the doors are locked from the outside. There are

security cameras throughout tlaeility, and monitors are sep in a control booth. JDC

28Factual disputes about immaterial matters are not relevant to a summary judgment determination.
Therefore, immaterial facts and factual averments not supported by the record are ématigdz. U.S. W., In¢3
F.3d 1357, 1361 (10th Cir. 1993) (citidgderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inet77 U.S. 242, 248 (1986)).



residents are supervised by juvertiége workers, also called juvendetention officers. At least
one juvenile detention officer is assigned to gamth at all times, and juvenile detention officers
control the movements of residents angegvise them twenty-four hours per day.

Don Ash is Sheriff of the $hiff’'s Office and, by law, hecharge and custody of the
JDC. At all relevant times, Jeff Fewell, a Colbimethe Sheriff's Department and Warden of the
JDC, was responsible for the custody, care, corgabbty, and security dfie juvenile residents
of the JDC. He reported to Undersheriff LaRgland and to Sheriff Ash. Terri Broadus, the
JDC Administrator, was responkatfor administering all operatns of the JDC and reported to
Fewell.

Major Daniel Soptic, Lieutenant Colonebbert Gunja, Detective Sherry Anderson-
Simpson (“Simpson”), and Deputy Daniel Andmrsvere all employed by the Sheriff's Office in
the roles indicated by their titles. Andrew Garrwas a detective in the Sheriff’'s Office and,
during the events underlying this action, wasnpoted to captain. Vincent Kingston was a
detective in the Internal Affairs Division tfie Kansas City, Kansas Police Department.

Plaintiff Florinda Zamora was employed agreenile detention officer at the JDC, as
were Kelsey Davis, Angela Garcia, KathyrHiagton, Peair Howard, Ry Schuler, and Jaya
Paden. During the time period at issue, Davis &rggaged to Carver, and they are now married.
Lieutenant Jelani Coppage was a shift supenas the JDC, oversig juvenile detention
officers. Adrienne Gilchrist was also adtenant at the JDC. Duane Olden was a JDC

maintenance worker. Minors J.K., B.R., @&idC. were male residents at the JDC.



2. Juvenile Detention Center School

DCF regulations applicable to the JDC requhat “[c]lassroom instruction . . . be
provided on-site by teachers Hivlg appropriate céfication from the Kansas board of
education,” and that “[e]ducaticervices shall be coordinataith the localschool district.2’
In accordance with regulations, the JDC coordisavith the Kansas City, Kansas Unified
School District No. 500 (“School Distt”) to provide educational services to JDC residents.
The School District is providedith classroom space inside theC and, during the school year,
the School District provides reints with six hours of instrtion per day, from 7:00 am to 3:30
pm, excluding weekends and holidays.

The School District independiéyadministers and operatesthchool inside the JDC.
The School District employs and assigns the ppigicithe teachers, and other support personnel.
The School District determindise curriculum and monitors tlstudents’ progress, and provides
all books, materials, and supplies. The JDCrimamput into staffing or programming for the
school, and the classrooms are separate frerpdds where JDC residents live. However, as
required by regulations, at least goeenile detention officer istationed in each classroom and
directly observes classroom activity to provadgport to the teacher. The juvenile detention
officer’s function is to provide sedty and to help insure ordampt to assist with instruction.

Neither the UG nor the Sh#ts Office has entered inta contract with the School
District concerning the JDC school. The UG aral $iheriff's Office do not pay any funds to the
School District for administeng and operating the School, nor do the UG, the Sheriff’s Office,

or the JDC receive any payment from thé@&a District for provding classroom space or

2"Doc. 76 1 10 (quoting Kan. Admin. Regs. § 28-4-355(b) (2019)).



security for the school. Like the UG, the Schbdtrict is a recipienof federal financial
assistance. The School Distrstsubject to Title IX.
3. Unified Government’s PoliciesRegarding Sexual Harassment

Per its Human Resources Guide, the UG “will not tolerate harassment of employees,”
including sexual harassmeiit.Sexual harassment is prohibite the workplace and in any
location that could be regarded as an extemef the workplace. The UG’s policy states that
sexual harassment may be “sulathel indirect,” and ioludes conduct “between individuals in a
hierarchal relationship” oranduct “aimed at coercing an indiual to participate in an
unwanted sexual relationshif’” Inappropriate behavior that constitutes sexual harassment can
include a wide variety of conduct, including gigal contact or touchg of a sexual nature,
flirtations, and unnecessary projty to another person.

The UG “encourages employees to report harasshafoteit becomes severe or
pervasive. Even if harassment doesrise to the level of a vidian of federal or state law, the
Unified Government wiltake action to stop it® The UG acknowledges that “[i]t is unlawful to
retaliate against an employk filing a complaint of harassment or cooperating in an
investigation of a comaint of harassment* Additionally, the UG sites that it “will not
tolerate retaliation against an individuahavin good faith reportsarassment or provides

information related to a complaint of harassmént.”

%Doc. 79-13 at 1.

29d. at 2.

30d. at 3 (emphasis in original).
34d.

32d.



The JDC has a manual for juvenile residentsiti@dtdes rules of conduct. Rule 5 states
that physical contact is prohibitend that criminal charges cdude filed for touching another
resident or staff mendo in a sexual manner.

4, Unified Government’s Policy on the Disclosure of Confidential
Information

The JDC maintains a Release of Informataticy. All juvenile detention officers are
given a copy of this policy, and Zamora beliettest she probably received a copy. The Release
of Information policy states: “It ithe policy of the Juvenile Deteom Center to ensure that all
juvenile records are safeguarded framauthorized or improper disclosurfé.’The policy
further provides that “[a]ll juvenile case record information is confidential,” and that “access to
case records shall be limited to persons and agencies which can demonstrate that the information
will serve a criminal justice purposé”“Juvenile case record imimation” includes all records
maintained by the JDC on residents and the information in them.

Under the Release of Information policya]iiy disclosure of record material to
unauthorized persons or agencies constitufpeeach] of trust and is restricted by laW."The
policy specifies that only certain staff mendbare authorized to disclose case information,
namely the JDC Administrator, Deputy Administna Juvenile Captairintake Lieutenant, and
“[o]ther Staff Members upon receipt of itten permission from the Administratot®” The

policy restricts access joveniles’ records and files to speed individuals and agencies. Those

33Broadus Aff., Ex. C, Doc. 76-9 at 10.
34 d.
39 d.
36|d.

10



who have access to juvenilestoeds and files includ&Juvenile Detention Center staff in the
performance of authorized job duti€’.”

A copy of an incident report that concerns £XMesident is placed in the resident’s file.
The report is consideredwrfidential under the Releaselaformation policy, and the
unauthorized release of the report or the infitiam contained thereis a violation of the
policy.

5. First Investigation of Davis Uncovering Multiple Instances of
Inappropriate Contact with a Juvenile Resident

On May 25, 2016, Zamora was cleaning\whedows in the ontrol booth, which
overlooks the pod where Davis was working. Hamongvas also preseint the control booth.
Both Zamora and Harrington observed Daviskivg with J.K., a seenteen-year-old male
resident. Zamora observed J.K. walking on tifieside of Davis withhis right arm around her
waist, and Davis with her left hand on J.Kight shoulder. Davis vgatalking to J.K., but
Zamora could not hear what she was sayingnata believed that Davis’s conduct toward J.K.
was inappropriate because ‘“it’s jaighd “you don’t walk around the pod like thd®."However,
Zamora did not consider Davis’sraduct with J.K. to be “sexudélehavior,” in that it was not
“intercourse or . . . groping of part®’and had never seen Davis behave that way before. The
incident was captured on video.

Zamora immediately informed her shift sugsor, Lieutenant Coppage, of what she had

observed. Coppage responded, “You'ghtj you're right to report this*® and told Zamora to

37d.

38Zamora Dep., Doc. 76-7 at 111:14-25.
39d. at 112:1-13.

40d. at 117:17-20.

11



submit a written report. Both Zamora and Harrington submitted written reports on May 25
regarding the physical behavior between Daris AK. Zamora'’s report stated: “I officer
Zamora Florinda . . . was cleaning the control booth with officer Kathy Harrington . . . in the
booth and | observed resident [J.Kith his arms around officer Ksey Davis . . . waist walking
and her hand on his shouldét."Harrington’s written report othe same incident stated that
Davis was “walking arm and arm with resident [J.K3.Harrington added that she was viewing
Davis and J.K. on the control booth moniémd that Zamora—who was standing and looking
down into the pod—had a bettgew of the situation.

After Zamora completed her writtenp@t, she also told Broadus, the JDC
Administrator, what she ha@éan. Broadus, like Coppage, egd that the May 25, 2016 incident
between Davis and J.K. needed to be repot®tile the UG did not take any immediate steps
in response to the May 25 incident, Zamorastid a change in Davisbehavior toward the
residents. Zamora noted that Davis no lonvgent into residents’aoms and, while she would
still sit and talk with residest she no longer bent over tab¥esile doing so. Rather, Davis
would keep her distance from residents gopkared to have correct her behavior.

On July 14, 2016, Harrington submitted a reporta second incident involving Davis,
J.K., and another JDC resident, B.R. Hagton reported that on June 28, 2016, she observed
Davis alone in the pod with the twesidents, and that Davis was

laying on the desk wither butt sticking out ahresident B.R. was
standing there looking at her. Rasnt J.K. was sitting on the phone
stools talking to her, then Officé&telsey Davis jumped on the desk

and was laughing with J.K. he svéouching her leg and holding her
hand this is when | called Mr. Duar®lden . . . , because | wasn't

4Doc. 76-8 at 1.
42d. at 13.

12



able to get in touch ith anyone else | felt | meled a witness to this,
Mr. Duane Olden came to the contpooth. To view the situatioh.

Olden also wrote a report abdhts incident, stating that hveas called to the control room by
Harrington to view activity irthe pod and witnessed

K. Davis sitting on the edge of tlaesk with a black male resident

sitting down on the teléne stool between thegs of the officer

rubbing her up and down. As | obged this going on for about five

minutes while another resident saixt to them both while this was

going on. When the slider door oyl Officer Davis immediately

jumped off the desk and the resitieurned around like nothing was

going on#*
Olden thought it was “really out eharacter for an employee to ibéeracting with a resident in
that way.*® Zamora was not present during andmtid observe the second incident involving
Davis and J.K. Like the May 25 incidentetBiune 28 incident was recorded on video.

At the time of the two foregoing incidergports, Davis was engaged to Carver, a
detective in the Sheriff's Office who was normaisponsible for investigating allegations of
employee misconduct. Because of the relalignbetween Carvema Davis, Sheriff Ash
decided to ask the Kansas City, Kansas Bdliepartment’s Internal Affairs Unit (“"KCKPD
Internal Affairs”) to investigate the allegatioagainst Davis. Captain Soptic, who supervised
the Sheriff's detectives, along withs supervisor, Lieutenant @uoiel Gunja, told Carver that
there was a complaint against his fiancéetaatiCarver would not be involved in the

investigation. Soptic and Gungid not go into the detaits the allegations, apart from

mentioning that there was a video showing Bavtonduct with two JDC residents and that it

43d. at 14.
44d. at 15.
49d. at 8.
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looked like “high school flirting.# When Carver asked Soptic if he believed Davis was guilty
and what he should do, Soptic encouragedthithave those discussions with [Davi].”

Dauvis first found out about the investigatifrom Carver, who spoke to her about it
before she was interviewed. Carver told Davit there was a video of her conduct. On July
14, 2016, Broadus called Davis to advise herdhatutside agency would be investigating
allegations against her. Broadus told Davat #he could not give her any details about the
allegations.

At some point, Zamora told Deputy Andensabout the incidemtvolving Davis and
J.K. that she witnessed in May 2016. Andersdm was close friends with Carver, worked in
the Sheriff’'s Office and was agsied to patrol. Anderson did not work in the JDC and Zamora
testified that she had never seem him the&f@mora recalled th&nderson responded, “I'm
going to tell my buddy [Detective Carver]. That’s his girlfriefitl.Zamora testified that she
asked Anderson not to repeat what shedaad about the May 2016 incident to Carver.

Detective Kingston from KCKPD Internalffairs was assigned to conduct the
investigation into the reporteddidlents involving Davis, and thatvestigation officially began
on July 18, 2016—more than fifty yiaafter the first observed imgnt of Davis inappropriately
touching a juvenile residenn May 25. On July 19, 2016, Kingston took a statement from
Zamora in which she recounted what she dlagerved on May 25. Zamora also told Kingston
that on a subsequent occasion, she and Schuetserved Davis and J.K. sitting next to each
other, with J.K.’s head resting on Davis’s slien. Zamora did not report this additional

incident when it occurred. Her account of thigraction between Davis and J.K. is consistent

46Doc. 79-15 at 2.
4'Soptic Dep., Doc. 46-6 at 10:10-20.
48Zamora Dep., Doc. 76-7 at 127:13-16.
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with Schuler’s witness statement to Kingston; Sehalso stated his befithat Davis’s actions
on this occasion were inappropriate.

Zamora further reported that if Davis was playing cards with J.K., she would lean across
the table with “her rear end up in the and just sit there and talk with hirf2” Zamora told
Kingston that she believed Davis’s behavior wassual because “you don’t act like that with
children.”®® When Kingston asked her whetherséd on her training and experience, she
believed that Davis had used pgadgment, Zamora agreed that Davis had. However, Zamora
also stated that she was unaware of any polidyaining that addresdddavis’s conduct with
J.K. The UG concluded that Zamora truthfukported the inapprojate physical contact
between Davis and J.K.

On August 5, 2016, Kingston took a statenfesrn Davis. Davis denied having an
inappropriate relationship with any of the residenBhe stated that she and the other officers
were encouraged to form relationships withkhiks and that she woulthorseplay around” with
them>! When talking with Kingston about still ptographs taken from the May 25 video, Davis
denied allowing J.K. to grab her side or tichkkr. However, when Kingston emphasized that
her May 25 interactions with J.Kvere captured on video, she statieat she could not recall that
particular interaction ahthat she would have told J.K t@gtif he was touching her in that
manner.

During additional questioning about the J@&incident repoed by Harrington and
Olden, Davis denied allowing J.K. to touch hetaarch her legs, but alstated that she could

not remember everything abouattencounter. Shediultimately recall that J.K. asked to see

49Doc. 76-10 at 5.
50d.
5IDoc. 76-8 at 22.

15



her engagement ring and that she let him loak ahd that she permitted J.K. strike her on the
kneecap while she was explaining what reflexes &avis stated that she had allowed other
residents to do the same. J.K. also tried tD#eis’s shoe. The video recording of the June 28
incident confirms that Davis did allow J.K. tmuch her and to touch her leg. B.R. reported
seeing Davis allow J.K. to touchrand stated that Davis treat&¢&. more favorably than other
residents.

Davis indicated that she had never beenlgld supervisor not to let the residents touch
her, nor had she been given any training abpptopriate versus inppopriate conduct with
residents. Detective Kingston testified thatbeld not speak to policseand procedures at the
JDC, but that Davis’s interactions wiltK. “would seem to be inappropriaf®.’He also
testified that he believed thBawvis “was not completely fditoming” during the investigatiof.

On August 31, 2016—over three months alawris was first observed interacting
inappropriately with a juvenileesident—Kingston completedshinvestigation and prepared a
report summarizing the results. Warden Fewellrdit read Kingston’s pert, but viewed the
video recording of Davis’s conduct on Mag, 2016. Although Fewell testified that Davis
should have been terminatedife lied to investigators, theeis no evidence regarding whether
Kingston shared his belieégarding Davis’s truthfuless with his superiors.

On October 11, 2016, Fewell suspended Davis for five working days without pay for
engaging in horseplay and paropriate conduct with juvenileffenders. Davis filed a

grievance regarding her suspensi@he asked that the five-dayspension be reversed, that a

52Kingston Dep., Doc. 79-6-4 at 24:9-10.
53d. at 24:11-14.
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non-disciplinary counseling statement be issaed, that training be provided on policy and
procedure “so there is mmnfusion on what the emplayés expectations are>*

Sheriff Ash reviewed Kingston’s pert, and later testified in ihcase that he “did not see
or read anything that indicatéaiat [Davis] wasn't [truthful].’® Ash also held a hearing on
Davis’s grievance, during which Davis maintairibdt she had not received adequate training on
physical contact with juveniles. Davis centled that the line bgeen appropriate and
inappropriate contact between juvenile detentiffiters and juvenile redents had been blurred,
and stated that she wanted there to be a didareation and additionalaining for officers.

Sheriff Ash concluded th&avis’s conduct did not wamaa five-day suspension
without pay, that Davis had demonstrated thaihing was not sufficient, and that they “needed
to start with a written reprimand and training specific to address the alleged inappropriate
behavior or conduct, and then tkdtheir] way up from there ia progressive discipline manner
rather than starting out with . . . a five-day suspensidrSheriff Ash reversed Davis’s
suspension and directed that she be issweritten reprimand and prided with additional
training. Fewell issued the reprimand on October 31, 2016.

6. Additional Reports of Inappropriate Conduct by Davis and Garcia
Toward Juvenile Residents

In addition to the three reports of inapprape physical contadietween Davis and a
juvenile resident covered by Kgston’s report, the UG had recedva fourth report on August 6,
2016, one day after Kingston took a statement from Davis and several weeks before he

completed his investigation. Jaya Paden, ajseenile detention officer at the JDC, reported

%Doc. 76-8 at 149.
5Ash Dep., Doc. 76-2 at 18:22-19:1.
56d. at 18:7-12.

17



that one resident told her that Davis and Ganaee touching him andther juvenile residents
inappropriately. Paden also refenl that one resident toldhilat Davis and Garcia were
allowing residents to touch them. Paden rejboiftat the resident said, “it was more than
touching going on% Paden reported that the resident &$o her that Davis and Garcia were
bringing in items for residents from outsithe JDC, including men’s body wash and candy.

The UG admits that it is a violation of its pyl for JDC staff and m@dents to touch one
another. The UG also admits that it is a violabof both UG policy andtate law for JDC staff
to bring in outside items for juvenileslowever, Fewell is not aware of the UG having
conducted any investigation into Paden’s allege, nor has the UG produced any documents in
this case reflecting that anviestigation occurred. Padenlkegations are not addressed in
Kingston’s report.

As the JDC Warden, Fewell would have kiedge of any disciplinary action against
Davis or Garcia for engaging in inappropriate physiocakact with minors or smuggling
contraband into the facility. Fewell testified ti&t is not aware of vther Davis and Garcia
were disciplined, nor has the UG produced documefliscting that they were disciplined for
this conduct.

7. Second Investigation of Davis for Aeged Sexual Relationship with a
Juvenile

On November 9, 2016, Juvenile Detention €dfiHoward reported to his supervisors
that a JDC resident, N.C., had notified him th&atiN.C.) had engaged in a sexual relationship

with Davis after he was released from the JiWGa previous occasion. Howard also reported

5Doc. 79-5 at 3.
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that N.C. told him that Davis had allowed NtG grope and touch her in a sexual manner while
he was a JDC resident.

It was Howard'’s report that prompted a secomnestigation into Dad. As a result of
his report, the Sheriff's Office opened a crimiimalestigation into N.C.’s allegations. The
second investigation was conductext by KCKPD Internal Affairsbut by Simpson, a Sheriff's
Office detective with fourteen years of experiendgarver, Davis’s fiancé, was not involved in
the investigation of the allegjans in Howard’s report, natid Simpson ever discuss those
allegations with him. However, Simpson was\ea's colleague and, at some point during the
relevant events, became his subordinate when he was promoted to captain. Pursuant to UG
policy requiring that a JDC staff member undergstigation be removed from contact with
residents, Davis was removed from the podsaasijned to the control booth, where she had no
contact with residents. Howard was firgierviewed on Novembek7, 2016; the narrative
summary of that interview does not mention Zamora.

On November 22, 2016, Garcia senwritten report to Simgs. In that report, Garcia
stated that Davis informed her that “apparefifficer Florinda Zamora . . . told Adult Deputy
Anderson that the dumb shit theydshdid happened at your hous&.”Garcia indicated that
Anderson had told Carver what Zamora said, ant@arver in turn told Davis. Garcia also
stated in her report that she had informed taeant Gilchrist of what she had been told
“because [she] did not think that the inveatign should have been discussed amongst peers
after reported, nor taken discuss with other gutoyees on the adult sidé®” Gilchrist had

advised her to type a report and send it to Simpson.

58Doc. 76-14 at 1.
59d. at 2.
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On November 30, 2016, after redeig Garcia’s report, Singon interviewed Anderson.
During his interview, Anderson told Simpsoratine talked to Zamora “once every blue
moon.’®® Anderson stated that Zamora had told him that Davis had sex with a juvenile, possibly
at Garcia’'s house, and tha believed Zamora had indicdtéhat she had obtained this
information from Garcia. Anderson also saidttbarlier, during the summer, Zamora had told
him that she did not get along wifravis, and that Davis and @& were friends, hung out, and
“always started stuff with heP* Anderson said that on a separate occasion, Zamora had told
him about a previous incident e JDC involving a juvenildifting with and touching Davis,
and that Davis did not do anytig about it. Anderson believedatithe juvenile involved in the
incident inside the JDC was the same individugh whom Davis was alleged to have had a
sexual relationship outside the facility. Ganei@s pulled into the criminal investigation when
Anderson told Simpson what Zamora had saiolua the sexual encounter between Davis and a
juvenile occurring at Garcia’s home.

Simpson interviewed Zamora later oo\mber 30, 2016, following her interview of
Anderson. When questioned, Zamora indicated thatatd had told her that N.C. stated that he
had slept with Davis outside the GDand that she had told Howard that he had to report because
they were mandated reporters. Zamora neveriamard’s report and did naissist him with it,
nor did she ever witness any inappropriate @cinbetween Davis and N.C. However, Zamora
also told Simpson that N.C. told her in parghat there was a rumor circulating about him

sleeping with Davis. Zamora also told Simpsdsout her prior reports on Davis in the spring.

50Doc. 76-8 at 75.
81d. at 77.
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Although Zamora testified that slpersonally did not believedlallegation that N.C. had
sex with Davis, she did admit during questiapby Simpson that sheld Anderson “what
[N.C.] said to [her]” direct#l, specifically that there was amor circulating about N.C. “hooking
up with Ms. Davis, having sex with Ms. Davi¥.”Zamora told Simpson that when N.C. asked
her if she had heard the rumshe told him that she had ndamora stated that she did not
know whether Davis and the minor had had sex ati&argouse, but that it was “more of . . . an
assumption” (one she testified to sharinthwAnderson) that any encounter would have
happened there, based on the fact that CavisGarcia were close and frequently hung out
together, and that N.C. had also mentionatyitay out at Garcia’s home with Garcia’s
children®?

At the time Zamora spoke with Andersiornthe fall of 2016 about the allegations
concerning N.C. and Davis, shvas aware that Davis was engdde Carver and that Anderson
and Carver were friends. She also knew thetethvas a possibility that what she was telling
Anderson would get back to Carver. Zamdidnot tell Anderson that there was an
investigation into Davis.

The day after interviewing Zamora, Simpsoterviewed N.C., who denied having any
type of relationship or physical contact with Davis. N.C. also denied telling Howard that he and
Davis were boyfriend and girlfrienat that they used to meet. Further, N.C. denied telling
Zamora that he knew Garcia outside the JDCth&ahe stated that his cousin went to school
with Garcia’s kids, so he had seen Garcidikat football games, antthey were like oh, how you

doing.”®* N.C. denied having been to Garcia@me. Regarding ¢hallegations under

62Doc. 76-12 at 7.
63d. at 5—7.
84Doc. 76-8 at 82.
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investigation, N.C. stated that “this [was His$t time hearing about,” and that he was
“shocked.®®
On December 21, 2016, Simpson interviewed Bawavis denied having any type of
relationship with N.C., including sexual relationship or assocraiwith him outside the JDC.
She did state that other juvendetention officers and residerknew about the allegation that
she was having sex with N.C. Davis stated Hsahora had told Anderson about the allegation
when she knew that Anderson was a close fra@rdavis’s fiancé. Davis stated that she
believed Zamora either wanted to make héteek good to Anderson or was trying to break up
Davis and Carver’s relationship. Simpson tesdithat Davis was upsahd crying during her
interview. Simpson also testified that she éedid Davis, even though she did not talk to the
investigator of the May 2016 incident. Davis gantice of her resignation on the same date she
was interviewed, December 21, 2016, and her resignation was effective January 11, 2017.
Sometime around January 3, 2017, Simpson tiraned the criminainvestigation of

Davis into an internal investigan of Zamora and Howard for ighonesty, disclosing confidential
information, harassment, interference with enaral investigation, and failing to repof®®’On
January 4, 2017, Simpson conducted a follow-u@rimews with both Zamora and Howard. In
her summary of her interview of Mard, Simpson later stated that

Howard maintained that [N.C] Haold him numerous times about

his relationship with Davis. During the interview Howard stated

multiple times that he never spoke to Zamora about the investigation

or his report regardg [N.C.] and the saial relationship with

Officer Davis. When asked how Zamora knew about the

investigation, Howard stated thfl{l.C.] told Zamora. Howard

began telling us that one daywas working as eunner and Zamora

was in the pod with him and he came in the pod and [N.C.] was
talking to Zamora about the situatio He then stated that the only

69d. at 91.
56Doc. 76-13 at 9.
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conversation he and Zamora had about what he had reported was

that this kind of thing had happed before. . . . Later during the

interview, Howard admitted that he and Zamora had conversations

about [N.C.] and Davis but denied that it influenced his réfort.
However, Simpson testified that she believethdea “was probably truthful” when she stated
that she had advised Howard to makesport regarding Davis and Ne€.

Simpson completed her investigation assbied a report on January 12, 2017. In that
report, Simpson “determined that the criminal investigation into Officer Kelsey Davis and
Officer Angela Garcia was unfoundet.”’She wrote that during the criminal investigation of
Davis and Garcia, she “discovered several inctersiges in the statements provided by Officer
Howard and Officer Zamora that led [her] tdibee they were being @ruthful and had been
dishonest during the investigatioff.”

With respect to Zamora, Simpson also doded that she had made accusations about
Davis having sex with N.C. at Garcia’s hobesed on assumptions, and that she had disclosed
confidential information about those allegatid@ag\nderson. Simpson testified that Zamora

twice went to Daniel Anderson atald him that Kelsey Davis was
first, flirting with this juvenile, then, next, having sex with the
juvenile. Daniel Anderson wasnéirew Carver’s best friend. So
she went to that person knowing that he was going to disclose to
him, the guy that works in Internal Affairs and is his friend, this in

order to try to hurt Davis. So honestly throughout this you can see
that Zamora targeted Davis.

571d. at 9-10.

58Simpson Dep., Doc. 79-1 at 27:15-23.
5Doc. 76-13 at 9.
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"Simpson Dep., Doc. 79-1 at 24:2-10.
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8. Termination of Zamora’s Employment
Simpson briefed Fewell on the results of imieestigation of Davis and Garcia, and
informed him that she believed that Zamora Hiesvard had not been truthful. Fewell also
reviewed Simpson’s investigativeport and the transcripts of thmerviews she conducted. In a
January 18, 2017 memorandum to Sheriff Asti Bndersheriff Roland, Fewell “strongly”
recommended that Zamora’s employment “benteated based upon potential liability, damage
due to [her] poor judgment in spreadingmors and violating confidentiality? Specifically,
Fewell's memorandum notes that the invesiogatevealed that Zamora had “discussed
confidential information regandg this case and another cagédeputy Daniel Anderson,
member outside chain of command. [Zamaiap lied to Detectios during questioning’®
At some point, Ash and Fewell had@wersation about Fewell's January 18, 2017

memorandum, and Ash authorized Fewell tmcped with the termination of Zamora'’s
employment. On January 23, 2017, Fewell met with Zamora and informed her that she was
fired. Fewell read Zamora a memorandum stating the following reasons for her termination:

A confidential internal affairs investigation was conducted

regarding allegations KelseyDavis had [an] inappropriate

relationship with a juvenile iNovember, 2016. The investigation

revealed you discussed confidehirdormation regarding this case

and another case to Deputy DalmM\nderson, member outside the

chain of command. You alsprovided false information to

Detectives during questioning.

The Internal Affairs investigation revealed:

Your misconduct violated K.S.A. 65-50Records of Maternity

Centers and Child Care Facilities; Confidentiality Your

allegations created two criminal investigations (Davis and Garcia)
and established a hostile warkvironment based on innuendos.

?Doc. 76-8 at 154.
3d.
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Your misconduct violated théJG Human Resources Guide,
effective 09-29-16, Rule 2, Falsifying UG Recoruts that you
provided a false written report dog a [sic] Internal Affairs
investigation.

Your misconduct violated the&JG Human Resources Guide,
effective 09-29-1&Rule 3, Dishonestyn that you wee not truthful
during questioning during the Imteal Affairs investigation.

Your misconduct violated the UGiuman Resources Guide,
effective 09-29-16, Rule Unauthorized Disclosure of UG Recards
in that you discussed details of a sensitive Internal Affairs
investigation’*

Zamora filed a grievance of her termination, wh&heriff Ash denied. Heard was also fired.
Fewell testified that Zamora violat&dS.A. 8 65-507 and improperly disclosed
government records when discussing the allegatabout Davis and N.C. with N.C., Howard,

and Anderson. Although he tegi that discussions aboutwvgnile among JDC staff do not
generally violate § 65-507 when nesary for “operational awareneds fie also stated that such
discussions could potentially vaik the statute when staff meand are “discussing confidential
information among personnel that are not privy to such” because “it's protected information not
to be openly discussed among pgeatrthat level of command® Fewell testified that juvenile
detention officers should report up the chaicahmand rather than discussing confidential
information with each other.

During the grievance hearing, Ash asked Zeanwohy she talked t&nderson. Zamora

testified that she responded, “Amglen is my friend. | thought iteuld be all right to talk to

Ad. at 2.
*Fewell Dep., Doc. 79-3 at 31:18-20.
8d. at 32:2-33:22.
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Anderson.”” Zamora recalled that insponse, Ash was “just, like, né®” Zamora did not tell
Anderson about the ongoing invesitiign into Davis, and Anderson told the UG that he did not
know the name of the juvenile alleged to haverbievolved in a sexual relationship with Davis.
However, it is undisputed that both Fewell andh Aglieved that Zamora had told Anderson the
name of the juvenile in question.

Fewell further testified that Zamora was nathiful in three instaces, including (1) telling
Anderson that Davis had sexual tedas with N.C. at Garcia’s hoas(2) claiming that she tried
to report allegations involving different juvenile pssibly staying with ataff member; and (3)
stating that N.C. asked hesifie had heard the rumors involvimigh and Davis. Again, Anderson
had told Simpson that he beled the information concerningsaxual relationship between Davis
and N.C. had originated with Garcia.

Simpson testified that she concluded Zamom lbeen untruthful due to N.C.’s denial of
her account and inconsistencieEtween Zamora’'s and Howardtatements. However, Simpson
did not talk to other JDC stafiembers to determine N.C.’s regtibn for truthfulness. Rather,
she relied upon her review of Gl's phone calls, video recordingé Howard and N.C. together
in the pod, and N.C.’s “shocked” reaction to thlegations in determining that his denial was
credible. Lieutenant Coppage testified thabbkeved N.C. had made up the rumor about a sexual
relationship between him and Davis; howeverspfage believed Howard’s statement that N.C.
had told Howard about such a relationship. W8enpson asked Garcia if she believed Howard
was the type of officer N.C. would confide in, Garanswered that she did not believe so because

Howard is black and N.C. has made it known am#iD@ residents and staff that he does not like

77Zamora Dep., Doc. 76-7 at 222:22-24.
8d. at 222:25.
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black people. Additionally, Garcia statedhar interview that during a JDC training session,
Broadus had once brought up thetfdnat N.C. was a liar.

In her deposition, Zamora testified that sheadreed with the findings of the termination
memorandum, but agreed that shes Waed for what they feel” She also testified that she was
fired in retaliation for turning in Davis, a detective’s wife, in her May 25, 2016 report. Zamora
does not believe that shlveas terminated in connection withoward’s later report on Davis,
because she was not involved in that report beyond telling Howard that he needed to report.
Zamora does not know why, if she was terminategtaliation for theviay 2016 report, she was
not fired until January of 2017. Zamora is aatare of any other JDC employee who has been
terminated in retaliation foreporting child abuser neglect, though Howd was also fired
following the November 2016 investigation of Davidarrington continues to work at the JDC,
and Olden worked there until a few miositbefore his death in February 2018.

Although Fewell testified that onef the reasons he decided to terminate Zamora was
because she had submitted a fedg®rt to Simpson during the investigation, the UG now concedes
that Zamora did not submit a false report. There UG policy stating that an employee shall be
terminated for violating K.S.A. § 65-507, anetblG has never terminated anyone for violating
that statute other than Zamora and Howard.

9. Lack of Disciplinary Action as to Other UG Employees

Davis and Carver were engaged before theifikgestigation into Davis began. As noted
above, in the late spring or summer of 201tcand Gunja told Carver that there was a
complaint against his fiancée, that there waslaos/of her conduct, and that Carver would not

be involved in the investigation. Soptic and Gudid not go into the details of the allegations,

79Zamora Dep., Doc. 76-7 at 208:7-11.
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but encouraged Carver to speak with Davis ah@utoncerns. Carver did so before Davis was
interviewed, and while the UG was investigg the May 2016 incident involving Davis and
J.K., Davis was discussing information about theestigation with Carvegs well as with her
JDC co-worker, Schuler. The UG did not digicip Soptic, Gunja, o€arver for sharing
information about J.K. outside the JDC.

In addition, Anderson disclosed to Carttee later allegations regarding a sexual
relationship between Davis and arfeer JDC resident, which Carvigren repeated to Davis and
Davis conveyed to Garcia. Although the UG detines either Andersoar Carver stated the
name of the juvenile in question, the UG admitd thhen Davis told Garcia what she had heard
from Carver, Davis stated the identity of the minor, N.C. The UG admits that Davis disclosed
details of a sensitive Internaffairs investigation to Garcia.

When asked during his deposition whetheople who shared information about
juveniles outside the JDC chain of commmd should be disciplined, Fewell responded,
“Absolutely.”® The UG also testified that informatiand investigations involving juveniles are
confidential and must remain within the JDC; sudbrmation remains confidential even after it
has been improperly disclosed outside the JDC.

The UG did not discipline Anderson, CarverMdaor Garcia for their disclosure of
information relating to Davis’s alleged sexual relaship with a former resident. In fact, during
the course of the second investigation condlbieSimpson, Carver 8gpromoted a rank and
became Simpson’s superior. Simpson knew@@aver had been discussing the allegations
involving Davis and N.C. with others. In her deposition, Simpson testified to her belief that

Anderson, who repeated the allegations tov&a was not bound by the same confidentiality

8%Fewell Dep., Doc. 79-3 at 38:16-21.
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obligations as Zamora because he did not vabtke JDC and had no way of knowing its rules
and regulations.
[I. Analysis

A. Applicability of Title IX

Title 1X provides that “[n]o person in the United States shall, on the basis of sex, be
excluded from participation in, be denied the ignef, or be subjected to discrimination under
any education program or activity that receives Federal financial assistaresdcted under
Congress’s spending power, thatate “condition[s] an offer diederal funding on a promise by
the recipient not to discriminate, in whahounts essentially to a contract between the
Government and the recipient of fund$.The statute has two primary objectives: “[T]o avoid
the use of federal resources to support disicatory practices’ and ‘to provide individual
citizens effective protection against those practic&s.”

Title IX mandates that recipients of fedéfiabncial assistance provide equal educational
opportunities and protects against a wideatsrof discriminatory conduct based on &&xTitle
IX protects both men and ween from harassment based on sex, including deliberate

indifference by a school to known acts of teaatre-student or student-on-student harassiftent.

8120 U.S.C. § 1681(a).

82Gebser v. Lago Vista Indep. Sch. Qis24 U.S. 274, 286 (1989) (citations omittestde also Farmer v.
Kan. State Uniy 918 F.3d 1094, 1098 (10th Cir. 2019) (cit@gbser 524 U.S. at 286).

83Gebser 524 U.S. at 286 (citinGannon v. Univ. of Chicagd41 U.S. 677, 704 (1979)).

84See, e.g., Jackson v. Birmingham Bd. of Edi#4 U.S. 167, 173 (2005) (“Title IX prohibits
discrimination by recipients of federal education fundingrell v. Sch. Dist. No. 1, Denver, Cqald86 F.3d
1238, 1246 (10th Cir. 1999) (referencing “Title IX’s mandate for equal educational opportunities”).

85SeeGebser524 U.S. at 277 (holding that a school district may be held liable for damages under Title IX
for the sexual harassment of a student by a teacher Vamedéficial of the school district who at a minimum has
authority to institute corrective measures on the distrixgisalf has actual notice of, and is deliberately indifferent
to, the teacher’s miscondtigtDavis v. Monroe Cty. Bd. of Edu&26 U.S. 629, 646—47 (1999) (“We thus conclude
that recipients of federal funding may be liable for ‘subject[ing]’ their students to discrimination whezeipient
is deliberately indifferent to known acts of student-on-student sexual harassment and theibanadsethe
school’s disciplinary authority.”)
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Further, the statute proteets individual from retaliatiofor reporting conduct prohibited by
Title IX.8% There exists an implied private rigbftaction under Title IX, and “money damages
are available in such suit8””“A funding recipient, however, ‘may be liable in damages under
Title IX only for its own misconduct.®®

Congress clarified throughelCivil Rights Restoration Aof 1987 (“CRRA”) that Title
IX is to apply toall operationsof any department, agency, or other instrumentality of a state or
local government that receives federal finanagsistance, including agencies or departments
that receive federal aid indirectly from other state enfifieghus, whether “whether a
covered program or activity receives ‘Feddi@ncial assistance,’ . . . is determined by
reference to the ‘entire’ entity or ‘whole’ organizatiofi.”

Critically, however, the prograin question must still be aducationprogram or
activity as set forth in § 1681 to be a covkby the statute’s anigtrimination mandat& In

amending Title IX through the CRRA to broadlytexxd the statute’s reach to all operations of a

86Jackson544 U.S. at 178 (holding that “Title IX’s priveatight of action encompasses suits for retaliation,
because retaliation falls within thegtte’s prohibition of intetional discrimination on the basis of sex@grry v.
Mission Group Kan., Ing463 F. App'x 759, 766 n.7 (10th Cir. 2012) (stating, in case involving alleged retaliation
against employee for reporting incidents of sexual harassment of female students by male ins&iuctor, t
"[r]etaliation against a person because that person has complained of sex discrimination is anotiier form
intentional sex discrimination encompassed ke TX's private cause of action.”) (quotirigickson544 U.S. at
173)).

87Davis, 526 U.S. at 63%ee also Farme918 F.3d at 1098.
88Farmer, 918 F.3d at 1098.

8920 U.S.C. § 168™Moe v. Mercy Catholic Med. C1r850 F.3d 545, 553 (3d. Cir. 2013gldness v.
Pearce 30 F.3d 1220, 1225 (9th Cir. 1994) (noting that “[tlhe Senate Report for the Civil Rights Restoration Act of
1987 . .. clarified that Title IX and several other ciyghtis statutes applied to artiem institution receiving federal
funds, and not just to the specific pragrar activity receiving the money . . . .").

9OMercy Catholic Med. Cty 850 F.3d at 557 (citations omittedie also Roberts v. Colo. State Bd. of
Agric., 998 F.2d 824, 828 (10th Cir. 1993) (“Since 1988, Titldd$ applied to recipients of federal funds in all of
their operations.”) (citing 20 U.S.C. § 1687)).

9Mercy Catholic Med. Ctr 850 F.3d at 554-5&oubideaux v. N.D. 4 of Corrs. & Rehah.570 F.3d
966, 977 (8th Cir. 2009) (“The express languafj&itle 1X prohibits discrimination in ‘angducationprogram’ that
receives federal funds.” (citing 20 U.S.C. § 1681(a)).
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covered entity, “Congress retained8 1681(a) the modifier ‘edation’ before ‘program or
activity.” It left ‘education’undefined and gave no guidarioeeconcile 8 1687’'s broad phrase
‘program or activity’ with § 1681(& ostensibly narrower languag®.”

The Third Circuit recently analyzed, Boe v. Mercy Catholic Medical Cent&the
guestion of what makes a program sufficiently etiooal to trigger the protections of Title IX.
The court ultimately found that a private teaghihospital’s operation of a residency program
was sufficient to qualify it as an edutioam program or activity under the statdteThe Third
Circuit agreed with an earlier Second Circuit holding that a “program or activity” under § 1687 is
an “education program or activity” under 8 1681(a) if it has “featsweb that one could
consider its mission to be, laast in part, educational”

“Whether a program or activity sufficiently educational unddiitle I1X is a mixed
guestion of law and fact. When the facts are utesiad, the judge decsléhe matter. Factual
disputes material to her legal conclusae, however, left for the finder of fad®”The Court
here must give effect to the broad purpose offitle IX and its amendmes to curb the use of
federal dollars to support discriminatory practjogkile also enforcing the requirement that the
program at issue must be ardteation” program or activity.

It is undisputed here that the UG receivetefal financial assistance, and the JDC is a
division of the Sheriff’'s Office within the UGThe parties also agree that the school housed

within the JDC is an “education program or aityivwithin the meaning of Title IX. However,

92Mercy Catholic Med. Cty 850 F.3d at 554.

93850 F.3d 545 (3d Cir. 2017).

%4|d. at 556-58.

%d. at 555 quoting O’Connor v. Davisl 26 F.3d 112, 117 (2d. Cir. 1997)).
%|d. at 556.
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the UG argues that all of the features ofgblool that make it “educational” are funded and
controlled by the School District, not the UG. eTHG’s position is that because it is the School
District, rather than the UGhat “operates” the school, TitlX does not apply. Zamora
counters that cases applying &itX in the prison context doot turn on the definition of
“operate,” but on whether the prison is aipgent of federal fiancial assistance.

Under the unique facts of this case, tlmi finds that Zamora may proceed with her
retaliation claim underifle IX. The UG cites no case law to support its argument that the
application of Title IX turns on whether it “operates” the school other than two cases stating that
in the absence of a different statutory or ratpry definition, “operee” should be given its
ordinary meaning’ There is ample precedent to support that prison education programs are
within the scope of Title IX® And as Zamora points out, te&atute has been held to apply
when courses being provided at prison ftiesi are taught by entities other than the prison
without any particular focus ondhdentity of the istructor as a potentially disqualifying
factor®® Further, even if the identity of the amtfoperating” the school was of critical import

here, the Court is unconvinced that the UG playpart in the operation tfie school within the

9’See Neff v. Am. Dairy Queen Corp8 F.3d 1063, 1066 (5th Cir. 1995) (holding, in context of ADA
claim, that “[t]o ‘operate,’ in the context of a business operation, means ‘to put or keep irogerati‘[t]o
control or direct the functioning of,’ . . . [or] [tloonduct the affairs of; manage.™) (citations omittet)jjted
States v. Bestfoods24 U.S. 51, 66 (1998) (construing “operator” in context of CERCLA to mean “someone who
directs the workings of, manages, or conducts the affairs of a facility” relating to pollution).

9%8See, e.g., Roubideaux v. N.D. Dep’t of Corrs. & Rel&tf) F.3d 966, 976—78 (8th Cir. 200Bythes v.
Butler Cty. Juvenile Rehab. CtR43 F. App’x 950, 953-54 (6th Cir. 200K)jnger v. Dep’t of Corrs 107 F.3d
609, 614-15 (8th Cir. 1997)eldness v. Pearc80 F.3d 1220, 1224-25 (9th Cir. 1994).

99See Klinger v. Neb. Dep't of Corr. Sen&24 F. Supp. 1374, 1399-1400 (D. Neb. 1993) (some courses
offered through and/or taught by community collegey,d on other grounds biglinger v. Dep't of Corrs 31 F.3d
727 (8th Cir. 1994)cert. deniegd513 U.S. 1185 (1995Roubideaux v. N.D. Dep't of Corrs. & Rehgh23 F. Supp.
2d 952, 956-60 (D. N.D. 2007) (local college classes offered on-site, through correspondence, or through education
release)aff'd, 570 F.3d 966 (8th Cir. 2009).
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JDC or that the JDC is not so intertwined wille school as to bensidered an education
program in and of itself.

The UG acknowledges that as a “person acting as a parent” under K.S.A. § 72-
3122(d)(2), the JDC is requiredeasure that its residents attesuthool pursuant to K.S.A. § 72-
3120(a)!*° The Kansas administrative regulatigrestaining to the licensing of detention
centers for children further provide:

K.A.R. 28-4-355. Program and services.

(@) A written plan and daily routine shall be maintained for all
juveniles which shall include: @als, rest and sleep, personal
hygiene, physical exercise,creation, counseling, education
and social services.

(b) Classroom instruction shall be provided on-site by teachers
holding appropriate certificath from the Kansas board of
education.

(1) Education services shall be coordinated with the local
school district. During # local school year, each
juvenile shall receive aninimum of six hours of
instruction per day, excluding weekends and holidays.

(2) For each juvenile currently enrolled in a Kansas public
school, contact shall be maimtad with the juvenile’s
home school district to ensuthe continuity of each
juvenile’s education.

(3) A regular schedule of struction and related
educational services appragie to the needs of each
juvenile shall be provided.

1005eeK.S.A. § 72-3122(d)(2) (“[P]lerson acting as parent’ means . . . a person, other than angarést,
liable by law to maintain, care for, or support the ghsldwho has actual care and control of the child and is
contributing the major portion of the cost of support ofdhiéd, or who has actual care and control of the child with
the written consent of a person who has legal custody of the child, or who has been granted custody ofyttee child b
court of competent jurisdiction”); K.S.A. § 72-3120(a) (“[E]very parent or person asiparent in the state of
Kansas, who has control over or charge of any child who has reached the age of seven years and is under the age of
18 years and has not attained a high school diploma or a general educational development (GED) credential, shall
require such child to begalarly enrolled in and attermbntinuously each schooégr (1) a public school for the
duration of the school term . . . .").
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(4) Youth care staff shall be sii@ned in proximity to the

classroom, with frequent, réict, physical observation

of the classroom activity at least every 15 minutes, to

provide immediate support to the teacHer.
Kansas law thus requires juvenile detentiomtees to provide for the education of their
residents. Further, it is uoctested that residents of theG@Rre minors who are required to
attend school, as opposed to adult prisonera/fmm taking courses would be optional.
Although content instruction #te JDC school is provided biye School District, the JDC
houses the school and its staffmieers are tasked with ensuring the safety and security of
students, a critical function of any educatianatitution. Specifically, in compliance with the
regulation set forth above, at least one juleedetention officer is stationed in each JDC
classroom and directly observes classroom activiprawide security and thelp ensure order.
Given Kansas law and these unditgal facts, the Court cannoedit the UG’s argonent that it
does not in any way “control[], directfipanagef], [or] onduct[]” the schoot®?

The UG’s argument that the Court should coasswhly the instructive facets of the JDC
school in deciding whether Title IX applies,igolation from the JDC as a whole, creates an
artificial distinction and ignorethat the education of its rel&ints is one of the JDC’s core
functions. Because the JDCréqjuired to ensure that its minor residents receive education
services—through coordination withe School District and by gviding a safe and secure

space for instruction—its mission &, least in part, “educationaliithin the meaning of Title

IX. 103 Adopting the UG'’s contrary position wouldceate a situation iwhich School District

103Kan. Admin. Regs. § 28-4-355 (2019).
0Doc. 76 at 30.

0Poe v. Mercy Catholic Med. Ctr850 F.3d 545, 555 (3d. Cir. 2017) (“The Supreme Court has twice
instructed . . . that, to give Title IX the scope its osgilictate, [courts are] to accord it a sweep as broad as its
language. And indeed the ordinary meaning of ‘education'—a word Congress has yet to defingrbipacki”
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employees working at the JDC school wouldobatected againsttadiation for reporting
conduct prohibited by Title IX, but JDC staff mbers providing security for student residents
would not be similarly protected. This reswthuld frustrate the purpesof the statute.

The typical application of Title IX in the igon context involves a challenge to unequal
educational opportunities for men and women prisom it is within thiscontext that courts
have held that Title IX apigs to entire state prison sgsts, requiring a comparison of
educational opportunities availa to men and women throughout those systems as a #fole.
In this case, in contrast, Zamora'’s retatiatclaim does not requitbe Court to look beyond
what happened at the JDC. Thus, the Cours do¢ pass on whether any person jailed in or
employed by a state prison fiitg that receives federal funds and provides an “education
program or activity” potentially rsa Title IX cause of action regiess of context. Rather, the
Court finds on the unique facts thiis case that the JDC itsedfan “education program or
activity” within the meaning of Title IX and thaiamora may bring a claim for retaliation under
that statute.

B. Retaliatory Discharge inViolation of Title IX

Retaliation against a person because thagmehas complained of sex discrimination

constitutes intentional discrimination “on thasis of sex” in violation of Title 1X%% In

(citing N. Haven Bd. of Educ. v. Befl56 U.S. 512, 521 (1982)ackson v. Birmingham Bd. of Edus44 U.S. 167,
175 (2005)) (quotingRoubideaux570 F.3d at 977)).

1045eg, e.g., Roubideas0 F.3d at 976 (“A state’s prison system as a whole qualifies as a program or
activity within the meaning of Title 1X.”) (citation omitted}inger v. Dep't of Corrs 107 F.3d 609, 616 (8th Cir.
1997) (“When considering single-sex prisons, the todycal and workable application of the definition of
‘program or activity’ under Title IX requires comparisoineducational opportunities for female and male prisoners
within the entire system of institutions operated byate& federally-funded correctional department or agency,
taking into account the objective differences between the male and female prison populationpsnclogisal
and security considerations as are necessagdommodate in this unique context.”) (citiejdness v. Pearc80
F.3d 1220, 1228-29 (9th Cir. 1994))).

105Jackson544 U.S. at 173-74.
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evaluating Title IX retaliation claims, courtsvealooked to the analogoasid more developed
case law governing Title VII retaliation clains.

The plaintiff bears the ultimate burdenmbving that her employer intentionally
discriminated against hé}/ but may do so “through eitherrdct evidence or circumstantial
evidence that creates an inference of intentional discriminaff®nt’here the plaintiff seeks to
use circumstantial evidence to show discriminatotgnt, as here, thaourt applies the burden-
shifting framework established McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Greé® Under that framework,
the plaintiff must establish a prima facie ca$eetaliation by demonisating: (1) that she
engaged in protected opposition to discriminat{@y;that a reasonable person would have found
the challenged action materialiglverse; and (3) that theresizausal connection between the
protected activity and th@aterially adverse actioi® The plaintiff's burden of establishing a
prima facie case is “not onerous?

If the plaintiff establishes a prima facie cabee burden shifts to the employer to offer a
legitimate non-retaliatory reasorrfine adverse employment actidA. If the employer is able to

offer a legitimate non-retaliatory reason, the burdeftsshack to the plaintiff to show that the

1065eg, e.g., Preston v. Va. ex rel. New River Cmty., GlF.3d 203, 206-07 (4th Cir. 1994) (collecting
cases)Roberts v. Colo. State Bd. of Agrig898 F.2d 824, 832 (10th Cir. 1998jating Title VII provides “the most
appropriate analogue when defining Titléd)$ubstantive standards”) (citation omitted)dckett v. Univ. of Kan
234 F. Supp. 3d 1100, 1108-09 (D. Kan. 2017).

07Bennett v. Windstream Comm’ns,.[rit92 F.3d 1261, 1266 (10th Cir. 2015) (citRiger v. QEP
Energy 776 F.3d 1191, 1199 (10th Cir. 20185amson v. Multi Cmty. Diversified Servs.,.Jiid4 F.3d 1136,
1145 (10th Cir. 2008)).

108d. (citing Riser, 776 F.3d at 1199).

109411 U.S. 792 (1973.T. v. Liberal Sch. Dist562 F. Supp. 2d 1324, 1336 (D. Kan. 2008) (citing
Somoza v. Univ. of Denyeésl3 F.3d 1206, 1211 (10th Cir. 2008)).

10C.T, 562 F. Supp. 2d at 1336 (citisgpmoza513 F.3d at 1212).

11Tex. Dep’t of Cmty. Affairs v. Burdind50 U.S. 248, 253 (198Ifabor v. Hilti, Inc, 703 F.3d 1206,
1216 (10th Cir. 2013) (citin@rr v. City of Albuquerqued17 F.3d 1144, 1149 (10th Cir. 2005)).

112\ cDonnell Douglas411 U.S. at 802.
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employer’s stated reason is a pretext for discriminafidoriA plaintiff demonstrates pretext by
showing that the employer’s profferegiplanation is unworthy of credencé?® “[A] plaintiff's
prima facie case, combined with sufficientdmnce to find that the employer’s asserted
justification is false, may permit the trierfaict to conclude that the employer unlawfully
discriminated.®*®> Again, despite the shifting framework, the ultimate burden of persuasion
remains with the plaintiff®
1. Elements of a Prima Facie Case

There is no dispute that Zamora has estabtishe second element of a prima facie case
of retaliation, a materiallydverse employment action, by demiwagng that the UG terminated
her employment. The UG asserts that Zamoranbaiestablished the firaind third elements.

a. Protected Activity

Regarding the first element, the UG contetidd Zamora'’s repting concerning Davis
did not constitute protected opposition to disination because her written May 25, 2016 report
did not expressly mention Davis engaging in dismation or harassment. Rather, Zamora’s
written report merely stated what she hadeobsd—Davis and J.K. walking with J.K.’s arm
around Davis’s waist and Davidsnd on J.K.’s shoulder.

In a retaliation case, thegnhtiff engages in protealeopposition by opposing a practice

made unlawful by the statute at isstie While it is true that thelaintiff “must convey to the

113d. at 804.

14Berry v. Mission Group Kan., Inc463 F. App’x 759, 766 (10th Cir. 2012) (quotiFaramillo v. Colo.
Judicial Dep't, 427 F.3d 1303, 1309 (10th Cir. 2005)).

1Bennett v. Windstream Comm’ns, .[rit92 F.3d 1261, 1266-67 (10th Cir. 2015) (quoRegves V.
Sanderson Plumbing Prods., In630 U.S. 133, 148 (2000)).

&Richardson v. Blue Cross/Blue Shield of Kan.,,Ih86 F. Supp. 2d 1174, 1181 (D. Kan. 2002) (citations
omitted).

1"McElroy v. Am. Fam. Ins630 F. App'x 847, 851 (10th Cir. 2015) (citirtinds v. Sprint/United Mgmt.
Co., 523 F.3d 1187, 1203 (10th Cir. 200B¥tersen v. Utah Dep’t of Corr301 F.3d 1182, 1188 (10th Cir. 2002)).
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employer his or her concern that the empltdyas engaged in a practice made unlawftiiho
magic words” are required to do ¥8. Given the undisputed facof this case, the UG cannot
genuinely argue that it did not understand Zarsdvéay 25, 2016 writtemeport—as well as her
verbal account when interviewed by Kingston ofaalditional instance of inappropriate contact
between Davis and J.K.—to raise the question of sexually-motivated behavior by Davis toward a
minor JDC resident. Zamora told Kingston that she found Davis’s conduct inappropriate
because “you don’t act like that with childrei® Although a plaintiff's failure to communicate
to her employer her concern about discrimirmatitay preclude a retalion claim where the
employer does not know that the plaintiis engaged in protected opposition to
discriminationt?! the facts here show that the UG waadl aware, based in part on Zamora’s
reports, of the need to investigate whetheviBhad been inappropriately sexual with minor
residents. Thus, the Court rejects the UG’s eatidn that Zamora did not engage in protected
opposition to discrimination when she reporteddizservations of Davis’s physical behavior
toward a minor resident.

The UG also argues that Zamaannot establish the first element of a prima facie case
because she had no reasonable, good-faitaftibiit harassment was occurring when she
reported on Davis. While a réitetion plaintiff need not pro that the complained-of sex
discrimination actually occurrethe plaintiff must have hadraasonable, good-faith belief that

she was engaging in protected oppositiodisarimination when making her repétt. The

118inds, 523 F.3d at 1203.

19,

12Dpc. 76-10 at 5.
12petersen301 F.3d at 1188—89.

122Clark v. Cache Valley Elec. G&b73 F. App’x 693, 700 (10th Cir. 2014) (citi@gumpacker v. Kan.
Dep't of Human Res338 F.3d 1163, 1172 (10th Cir. 2003)gld v. Ferrellgas, Ing 505 F. App’x 687, 690-91
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reasonable good-faith belief' tebias both subjective and obje&igomponents. ‘A plaintiff
must not only show that [shelibjectively(that is, in good faith) bieved that [her] employer
was engaged in unlawful employment pirges, but also that [her] belief wabjectively
reasonable in light of thaéts and record presented?® “To determine whether it was
objectively reasonable for a persin [Zamora’s] position to tieve that [she] was opposing
prohibited conduct, [the Court lookis] the underlying substantive law?*

Given its finding that Title IX applies to tREOC on the facts of thisase, and given that
juvenile detention officers were responsible$apervising inmateshe Court looks to the
underlying substantive law on teacher-on-stidemual harassment. A teacher’s sexual
harassment or abuse of a student constitutes discrimination on the basis of sex in violation of
Title IX.12° One element required to impose liabilityder Title IX on an entity receiving
federal financial assistance is that the teacts¥sbased harassmenteo$tudent must be “so
severe, pervasive and objectively offensive that. deprived the victim of access to the
educational benefits or opgonities provided by the schoof?®

The UG contends that the behavior Zamora witnessed and reported was nowhere near
severe, pervasive, and objectively offensive ghahat Zamora could have reasonably believed
Davis’s behavior amounted to sexual harassmevibiation of Title IX. However, for the

Court to determine that Zamora held a ozable belief that ghwas opposing prohibited

(10th Cir. 2012) (citingCrumpacker338 F.3d at 1171Berry v. Mission Group Kan, IncCase No. 08-2439-JPO,
2010 WL 11628372, at *3 (D. Kan. Mar. 16, 2010) (citations omitted).

2%Clark, 573 F. App’x at 701 (quotinkittle v. United Techs., Carrier Transicold Di.03 F.3d 956, 960
(11th Cir. 1997)).

24d. (citing Clark Cty. Sch. Dist. v. Breedes32 U.S. 268, 270-71 (2001) (per curiam)).

1255ee, e.g., Gebser v. Lago Vista Indep. Sch.,Bia4 U.S. 274, 280-81 (1998)M. ex rel. Morris v.
Hilldale Indep. Sch. Dist. No. 1-2997 F. App’x 445, 450 (10th Cir. 2010).

126J. M. ex rel. Morris 397 F. App'x at 450 (quotinDavis v. Monroe Cty. Bd. of Edu&26 U.S. 629, 650
(1999)).
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conduct does not require the Cawrfirst find that the conduathe reported was severe and
pervasive enough to be unlawful because “a mawiie retaliation claim will stand even if the
underlying discrimination claim failst?” As recently explained by the Seventh Circuit in the
context of Title VII:

[A] retaliation claim isn’'t doomegdimply because the complained-

of conduct was not in fact an unlawemployment practice; rather,

the plaintiff must have “a sincere anghsonablebelief that he is

opposing an unlawful practice.” KE objective reasonableness of

the [plaintiff's] belief is not assessed by examining whether the

conduct was persistent or severeuwggh to be unlawdl, but merely

whether it falls into the categy of conduct prohibited by the

statute.?8

The two instances of contact between Dawid J.K. that Zamora initially reported

involved: (1) Davis and J.K. walking withKls arm around Davis’s wst and Davis’s hand on
J.K.’s shoulder; and (2) Davis and J.K. sitting nex¢ach other, with J.K.’s head resting on
Davis’s shoulder. While Zamora acknowledgethén deposition that Davis’s conduct was not
explicitly sexual because it did not involwgercourse or groping, such behavior would
nonetheless seem suspectny eeasonable person observingithe context of a teacher-
student or guard-inmate relatiship. The UG’s sexual harassment policy, which admittedly is
intended to address interactions among employgtly, instructs that s@al harassment may be
subtle and indirect, and includes conduct betwadividuals in a hierarchal relationship or

conduct aimed at coercing an individual to gvate in an unwanted sexual relationship.

Further, JDC rules prohibit physical touching betw residents and staff members. Consistent

12’Sanchez v. Denver Pub. S¢h$4 F.3d 527, 533 (10th Cir. 1998) (citation omittddjkins v. Educ.
Credit Mgmt. Corp 212 F. App’x 729, 735-36 (10th Cir. 2007) (citiBgnchez164 F.3d at 533).

24 ord v. High Voltage Software, In@39 F.3d 556, 563 (7th Cir. 2016) (citiHgmner v. St. Vincent
Hosp. & Health Care Ctr., Ing224 F.3d 701, 70607 (7th Cir. 2000)agyar v. St. Joseph Reg’l Med. C&44
F.3d 766, 771 (7th Cir. 2008pert. denied137 S. Ct. 1115 (2017).
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with UG policy and JDC rules, Zamora’s supesitold her she was right to report Davis’s
conduct in May 2016, and Dauvis tkeafter stopped heripr practice (which had been observed
by Zamora) of bending over tables while conversiitty residents. Further, the fact that
Harrington, Olden, and Paden all reported physioaduct by Davis toward minors, including
conduct that was “more than touching” per Pageaport, suggests a pdssi pattern of sexual
conduct by Davis towards minor residents.

The Court is unwilling to find, on the recordfbee it, that Zamora did not engage in
protected opposition by reporting @s's inappropriate physical catt with a juvenile inmate.
“The relationship between the harasser and thewinecessarily affects the extent to which the
misconduct can be said to breach Title IX’s guarantee of equal accessati@nal benefits and
to have a systemic effect on a program or égtiwvith teacher-on-stdent harassment being
more likely to violate Title IXthan peer-on-peer harassm&dtThe record in this case is replete
with facts that cause this Court concern about a potentially sexuallyechamngironment at the
JDC, where adult guards wield authority and infice over vulnerable, at-risk minors. This is
the environment in which Zamora worked, anel @ourt finds sufficient evidence that she held
both a good-faith subjective belief and an obyjesyi reasonable belief that she was reporting
conduct forbidden by Title IX. Zamora hastrher non-onerous burden of establishing the
protected-opposition elemeat her prima facie case.

b. Causal Connection Between Protected Activity and Materially
Adverse Action

Satisfying the causal-connection elementaoprima facie case of retaliation requires

“evidence of circumstances that justify an nefece of retaliatory mote; such as protected

12Davis 526 U.S. at 653.
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conduct closely followed by adverse actid®f” “But ‘[u]nless thereis very close temporal
proximity between the protecteattivity and the retaliatory condiahe plaintiff must offer
additional evidence to establish causatith.”

The UG contends that Zamora has not showhhkr discharge was causally connected to
her report on Davis because the period of tintevéen her May 2016 reponhd her firing is too
long (eight months) to establitie necessary causal inferenod ahe has failed to come forward
with additional evidence taupport causation. Zamora counterattthe length of time between
the protected activity and the adverse action shbeltheasured from the date on which the UG
made a final decision on itsiiial investigation of Daviswhich occurred on October 31, 2016.
Zamora claims that her firing three months latesufficiently close in time to establish a direct,
causal connection.

The Tenth Circuit has not announced a litriine rule on the temporal proximity
required between protected opposition and a naligadverse actionRather, the court has
explained:

It appears clear that, if the advelction occurs ia brief period up

to one and a half months aftdre protected activity, temporal
proximity alone will be sufficiento establish theequisite causal
inference; but it is equally patetitat if the adverse action occurs
three months out and beyond frothe protected activity, the
action’s timing alone will not be fiicient to establish the causation
element. . . . However, wheadong the temporal line beyond one
and beyond one and one-half months but short of three months, the

adverse action’s timing ceases to swdficient, standing alone, to
establish the requisite causal inference is less than pelficid.

B%Burrus v. United Tel. Co. of Kan., In683 F.2d 339, 343 (10th Cir. 1982) (citations omitted} also
O’Neal v. Ferguson Constr. G237 F.3d 1248, 1253 (10th Cir. 2001).

1310’Neal, 237 F.3d at 1253 (citingonner v. Schnuck Mkts., In@21 F.3d 1390, 1395 (10th Cir. 1997)).

B32Conroy v. Vilsack707 F.3d 1163, 1181-82 (10th Cir. 2013) (citherson v. Coors Brewing GCd 81
F.3d 1171, 1179 (10th Cir. 199%einers v. Univ. of Kan359 F.3d 1222, 1231 (10th Cir. 2004)).
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The UG is correct that the relevant startingp@ not when its investigation of Davis
concluded, but when theqdected activity occurretf®> Zamora’s firing in January 2017 is too
far removed from her May 2016 report to sup@ocausal connectian the absence of
additional evidence. And even if the Court were@ccept Zamora’s contion that the length of
time between the protected activagd the adverse action shouldrbeasured from the date on
which the UG made its disciplinary decisionta®avis on October 31, 2016, there would still
be roughly three months between the protectéditycand the adverse action, almost certainly
requiring Zamora to offer aditnal evidence to establish cation. However, drawing all
inferences in Zamora’s favor, the record in ttase could alternatively allow the Court to find
that she engaged in protectedivaty as late November 30, 2016.

Although Zamora testified thahe does not believe she was fired for Howard’s
November 2016 report regarding a possible aksalationship between Davis and N.C.,
Howard’s report spawned a second investigatiom avis. That invstigation was conducted
not by an outside entity, bby Detective Simpson from the Sherriff's Office, who was a
subordinate of Davis’s fianc€aptain Carver. Simpson interviewed Zamora on November 30,
2016, and Zamora reported to Simpson not only what she had heard about a rumored sexual
relationship between N.C. and Davis, but aléat she had previoushgported (in writing and
verbally to Kingston) in the spring of 2016 ab@a#vis’s conduct with J.K. There is nothing in
the record to suggest thaimpson was previously aware of Zamora’s prior reports.

The Supreme Court has held thateamployee can oppose discrimination

by responding to someone else’s gfign just as surely as by

provoking the discussion, and natbi in the statute requires a
freakish rule protecting an empkey who reports discrimination on

139d. at 1181.
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her own initiative but not one wheports the same discrimination
in the same words when her boss asks a quésfion.

Zamora was terminated less than two montter &iler statement to Simpson, creating a much
closer call on whether she would need &ddal evidence to support a causal connection
between her protected oppositiorctinduct prohibited by Title IXral her termination. In any
event, whether the relevant time period is v eight months, Zamora contends that the
evidence she offers to show pretext also eistadd the causation element of her prima facie
case, and “[tlhe Court may consider evidenoeliteg to establish thweakness of a proffered
non-discriminatory reason not only in the pretebage of a retaliation claim, but also in
connection with establishing causat@spart of a prima facie cas€” Through her evidence of
pretext, discussed below, Zamora has alsb her non-onerous burden of establishing the
causal-connection element of pgima facie case of retaliation.
2. Pretext

If the plaintiff establishes a prima facie caseliscrimination, “the . . . burden shifts to
the defendant to articulatdacially nondiscriminatory reasdor the challenged employment
action.’*6 While the defendant need not provehis stage that its non-discriminatory
motivation for the decision was “bona fide,” tteason articulated must be “reasonably specific
and clear.*®” The UG has met its burden here, stating that Zamora was fired for breaching
confidentiality and for dishonesty in the coua$eéhe second investigation into Davis’s conduct,

resulting in unwarranted criminal investigatsointo Davis and Garcia and a hostile work

134 Crawford v. Metro. Gov't of Nashville & Davidson Cty., TeBb5 U.S. 271, 277 (2009).

3Mancell v. McHugh639 F. App’x 527, 531 (10th Cir. 2016) (citiRgoctor v. United Parcel Ser502
F.3d 1200, 1209 (10th Cir. 2007HEOC v. PVNF, L.L.C 487 F.3d 790, 800 n.5 (10th Cir. 2007).

B%Beams v. Nortgr256 F. Supp. 2d 1203, 1214-15 (D. Kan. 2003) (citicfponnell Douglas. Green
411 U.S. 792, 802 (1973)).

137E E.O.C. v. Flasher Cp986 F.2d 1312, 1316 (10th Cir. 1992).
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environment. Thus, the burden returns to Zano show by a preponderance of the evidence
that the nondiscriminatory reasons offered are merely préfext.

A plaintiff may “demonstrate[] pretext by show either that a discriminatory reason
more likely motivated the employer or that #maployer’s proffered explanation is unworthy of
credence®® In other words, a “plaintiff can estissh pretext by showing the defendant’s
proffered nondiscriminatory explamats for its actions are ‘so inberent, weak, inconsistent, or
contradictory that a rational factfinder cduonclude [they are] unworthy of belief:*®

Evidence of pretext “may take a variety ofrfes,” and a plaintiff “may not be forced to
pursue any particular means of demonsigathat [a defendant’s] stated reasons are
pretextual.?*! The Tenth Circuibas explained that:

A Plaintiff typically makes a showing of pretext in one of three
ways: (1) with evidence that the defendant’s stated reason for the
adverse employment action was false; (2) with evidence that the
defendant acted contrary to a written company policy prescribing
the action to be taken by the ded@nt under the circumstances; or
(3) with evidence that the defendauted contrary to an unwritten

policy or contrary to compangractice when making the adverse
employment decisiorffecting the plaintiff42

138stinnett v. Safeway, In@837 F.3d 1213, 1218 (10th Cir. 2003) (citihgx. Dep’t of Cmty. Affairs v.
Burding 450 U.S. 248, 253 (1981hjasher, 986 F.2d at 1321Beams256 F. Supp. 2d at 1215 (citibganville v.
Reg’l Lab Corp, 292 F.3d 1246, 1250 (10th Cir. 2002)).

1393tinnett 337 F.3d at 1218 (quotirRea v. Martin Marietta Corp 29 F.3d 1450, 1455 (10th Cir. 1994)).

ME.E.O.C. vC.R. England, Ing 644 F.3d 1028, 1038-39 (10th Cir. 2011) (quofiognson v. Weld Cty.,
Colo., 594 F.3d 1202, 1211 (10th Cir. 2010)) (cittgmora v. Elite Logistics, Inc478 F.3d 1160, 1166 (10th Cir.
2007)).

4IKendrick v. Penske Transp. Servs., 220 F.3d 1220, 1230 (10th Cir. 2000) (quoffagterson v.
McLean Credit Union491 U.S. 164, 187-88 (1989)).

13d. (internal citations omitted).
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To show that a defendant acted contrary to awritten policy or to comany practice, a plaintiff
often provides “evidence that [shegs treated differently from othsimilarly-
situatedemployees who violated workles of comparable seriousngs®

However, “[m]ere allegations are insufficiedf,?and “[t]he plaintiff's own conclusory
opinions about . . . the employer’s motives dogioé rise to a mateal factual dispute® “In
determining whether the proffered reason foeaislon was pretextual Hé court] examine[s]
the facts as they appear to the person makiaglecision[,] not the plaintiff's subjective
evaluation of the situation'*® “Regardless of which theory of pretext the plaintiff asserts, ‘[the
Court’s] role isn’t to ask whether the employat&cision was wise, fair or correct, but whether
[it] honestly believed [the legitimate, nondiscrimatory] reasons [it gave for its conduct] and
acted in good faith on those belietd” Finally, in deciding whéter the Zamora has made a
sufficient showing of pretext, the cotimust consider the evidence as a whafé.”

In support of her pretext argument, Zamasaerts that each of the reasons for her
termination stated in Fewell's termination mearadum are either not credible or have been
proven false through the testimony of UG represeargati Zamora also contends that the UG’s

rules and policies were applied differently to tlean to other employees. Specifically, she

143d. (citing Aramburu v. Boeing Cp112 F.3d 1398, 1404 (10th Cir. 199%ge alscBwackhammer v.
Sprint/United Mgmt. Co 493 F.3d 1160, 1167—68 (10th Cir. 2007) (quokegdrick 220 F.3d at 1230).

144Beams v. Nortar256 F. Supp. 2d 1203, 1215 (D. Kan. 2003) (ciNtaygan v. Hilti, Inc, 108 F.3d
1319, 1324 (10th Cir. 1997)).

149d. (quotingBullington v. United Airlines186 F.3d 1301, 1318 (10th Cir. 1999)).

149 obato v. N.M. Env't Dep/t733 F.3d 1283, 1289 (10th Cir. 2013) (quotinggter v. Vilsack667 F.3d
1089, 1093 (10th Cir. 2011) (third alteration in originape alsaConroy v. Vilsack707 F.3d 1163, 1174 (10th
Cir. 2013) (citinge.E.O.C. vC.R. England, In¢ 644 F.3d 1028, 1044 (10th Cir. 2011)).

MDewitt v. Sw. Bell Tel. Cp845 F.3d 1299, 1307 (10th Cir. 2017) (quotiohnson v. Weld Cty., Colo
594 F.3d 1202, 1211 (10th Cir. 2010)) (first alteration addes;alsdendrick 220 F.3d at 1231 (citations
omitted).

“Danville v. Reg'l Lab Corp 292 F.3d 1246, 1250 (10th Cir. 2002) (citiMgshington v. Davjgl26 U.S.
229, 242 (1976)).
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contends that Davis violated UG rules and policy when she engaged in multiple acts of
inappropriate physical contact wighjuvenile, lied to investigats, and widely discussed the
allegations involving a juvenil&ith individuals both insideral outside the JDC. Zamora
argues that other members of the Sheriff's Office violated confidentiality by telling Carver of the
allegations involving Davis, and that Carvenlated confidentiality by speaking to Davis about
those allegations before she was ever inter@te Zamora argues that although Carver, Davis
and their friends widely disssed the allegations involvingagnile, none of them were
disciplined or terminated for such conduct as Zamora was.

The Court agrees that Zamora has prodstéficientevidence to establish pretext.
First, there is no dispute that Zamora did ndirsit a false written report during Simpson’s
investigation, which Fewell tesitdid was one basis for her tenmation. Second, regarding the
UG’s contention that Zamora was dishonest during questioning, the record as a whole contains
enoughweaknesses and contradictiomish regard to whether ¢hUG honestly believed that
Zamora lied during the second investigation of Bdwimake summary judgment inappropriate.

The UG contends that Zamora lied when &hé& Anderson about Davis having sex with
N.C. at Garcia’s house, when she claimed shephadously tried to repsoincidents involving a
different juvenile, and when sheld Simpson what she had hedarom N.C. concerning rumors
circulating about him and Davis. The recordiglear, however, whether the information about
Davis and N.C. having sex at Garcia’s houseioaigd with Zamora, Heard, N.C., or Garcia—
Anderson told Simpson duringdlsecond investigation thia¢ believed Zamora had obtained
this information from GarciaFurther, during the fitsnvestigation of Davishe UG concluded
that Zamora truthfully reportethe inappropriate physical miact between Davis and J.K.,

whereaghe record contains evidence relatind\t€.’s propensity for untruthfulness. Yet
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during the second investigation, the UG credite@.’s version of events over Zamora’s.
Further, although theG contends that Zamora and Had/a accounts were inconsistent,
Simpson testified that Zamora was probably trutifiaén she stated that she told Howard that
he was a mandated reporter and eeed report what N.C. hadl¢bhim about Davis. The Court
concludes that Zamora has prdseérsufficient evidence to pernatjury to infer that the UG’s
statement that she was fired for dishonesty was pretext.

As to the third stated reason for Zamoratsii@ation, the parties disagree about whether
she violated the JDC’s Release of Inforroatpolicy and K.S.A. § 56-507. Zamora contends
that she did not violate confdtiality under either because she was on the receiving end of
information from Howard and N.C. and becagke did not disclose to anyone outside the
Sheriff's Office. The UG correctlgsserts that whether Zamorauadly violated the statute is
immaterial as long as Fewell and Ash legitietatelieved she had. However, Zamora has
presented evidence that the UG failed to disogpémployees who violated rules of comparable
seriousness which, in turn, calls into questidrether the UG acted in good faith in firing
Zamora.

There is no UG policy stating that an emm@eyshall be terminated for violating § 65-
507, and the UG has never terminated anyone &bating that statute other than Zamora and
apparently Howard. The record is silent atheoUG’s policy on termination of employment for
violation of its Release of Inforation policy. When arguing that th#G acted contrary to an
unwritten policy or pratice by firing her but nogimilarly-situatedemployees who violated work

rules of comparable seriousnggamora bears the burden of deretrating that she is, in fact,
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“similarly situated to the employees to whom [she] is comparing [herséf]“An employee is
similarly situated to the plaintiff if the employdeals with the same sup&or and is subject to
the ‘same standards governing perfance evaluation and discipliné®® “In determining
whether two employees are similarly situated, a ‘court should also compare the relevant
employment circumstances, such as workolnysand company policies, applicable to the
plaintiff and the intended comparable employeé®.”™*The infractions giving rise to the
comparison need not involve exactly the saffienses; they need gnbe of comparable
seriousnesst®?

Zamora contends that Gunja, Soptic, @pAnderson, Davis, and Garcia were not
disciplined for discussing information about a&guile in much the same manner Zamora did.
The UG contends that these individuals are moilaily situated to Zamora and did not violate
rules of similar seriousnes£iting to Simpson’s opinion as stated in her deposition testimony,
the UG contends that the JDC’s Release fafrmation policy and K.S.A. § 56-507 do not apply
to Sheriff’'s Office employees woairkg outside the JDC. Specificalyith respect to Soptic and
Gunja, the UG contends that Zamora has notvshthat they lacked the legal authority and
discretion to share with Carvere allegations against his fiancéed that Soptic implicitly

authorized Carver to discussthllegations with Davis.

“¥Kelley v. Goodyear Tire and Rubber.C220 F.3d 1174, 1178-79 (10th Cir. 2000) (cit®ane v.
Longmont United Hosp. Ass'h4 F.3d 526, 532 (10th Cir. 1994)).

%K endrick 220 F.3d at 1232 (quotimgramburu v. Boeing Cp112 F.3d 1398, 1404 (10th Cir. 1997)).

BIMcGowan v. City of Eufala472 F.3d 736, 745 (10th Cir. 2006) (quotigamburu 112 F.3d at 1404);
see alsdendrick 220 F.3d at 1232 (citation omitted).

1522 E.O.C. v. Flasher Co., Inc986 F.2d 1312, 1316 (10th Cir. 1992) (citMgAlester v. United Air
Lines 851 F.2d 1249, 1260 (10th Cir. 198&@e alsdSmothers v. Solvay Chems.,.|Jri#0 F.3d 530, 541-42 (10th
Cir. 2014) (“When comparing differetreatment of similarly-situated employees, ‘the comparison need not be
based on identical violations of identical work rules; the violations need only benpacable seriousness.™)
(quotingElmore v. Capstan, Inc58 F.3d 525, 530 (10th Cir. 1995))).
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This line of reasoning gives the Court somagea given the undisputéalct that the JDC
is a division of the Sheriff’'s Office within é0UG. The UG seems to be arguing that Sheriff
Ash, who has charge and custody of the JDC Wy dand his Sheriff ©Office employees who do
not work inside the JDC, do not share thagailon keep information concerning juveniles
confidential. On its face, § 56-507 is not so limjtetating that certain information pertaining to
juvenile residents “shall be cadéntial and shall not be mageblic in a manner which would
identify individuals.*>® Setting aside the issue of whether@mgyin this case actually violated
the statute, which is not at alear, it makes little sense titae Sheriff's Office as a whole
would not be bound by this prohibition. In argse, Davis and Garcia—who held the same
position as Zamora, were subject to the samedemntiality rules and policies, and had the same
supervisor—discussed allegations involving piles without facing repercussions. The UG
contends that Davis resigned befeghe could be disciplined, bhere is no evidence that either
she or Garcia faced repercussions for theiriroiscussing confidential information outside the
chain of command.

The UG also contends that Zamora’s violatdrronfidentiality was of a different, more
serious nature because she improperly disclogedhation she learned first-hand in the course
of her duties at the JDC, whereas “the SfigtOffice could have rasonably viewed the
disclosure of ‘confidential’ infamation that had been learneztend-, third-, or fourth-hand and
that was not acquired or disclasi the performance of officialuties as less serious than the
disclosure of confidential information obtained on the jbf.’Again, however, there is a dispute

as to whether the informatioelayed to Anderson concerning a relationship between Davis and

15 S.A. § 56-507(b).
154Doc. 82 at 41.
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N.C. originated with Zamora as opposed to NHbward, or Garcia. Fther, the UG contends
that Zamora lied when she claimed to have heard this rumor directly from N.C. himself, a
position at odds with the UG’s contention tHaimora obtained confidential informatitrst-
handand that she violated K.S.A. 8 56-507 in disclosing informatdx.C.

The Court is not convinced that Zamora haledato show that the UG acted contrary to
company practice by failing to discipline or tenate other employees who violated rules of
comparable seriousness but, in any case, nedehse its finding of sufficient evidence of
pretext on the UG'’s failure to discipline others for violating confidentiality. For even if Zamora
has failed to show that similgrkituated employees violatedrdidentiality rules of comparable
seriousness, Paden’s report congeg Davis and Garcia raises thessibility that both officers
violated both JDC policy and Kansas law bgaging in touching ch sexual nature with
residents and bringing contraband ittie facility for residents.

These allegations against Davis and Garaaaaguably much more serious than sharing
confidential information with dters under the umbrella of t&heriff’'s Office, yet Paden’s
report was never even investigated—despite theliattingston was at that time in the process
of investigating similar conduct by DavisVhile the UG highlights the fact that other
employees, including Harrington and Olden, aiksmorted on Davis but were not fired, these
individuals reported on Davis the context of the ffst investigation, which was conducted by an
outside entity rather than Carver’satit subordinate in éhSheriff's Office. Zamora has
established a genuine and matkfactual issue as to whettghe was punished more harshly
than similarly situated employees who violated rules of comparable seriousness, and a
reasonable jury could therefore infer that thG’s claim that she was fired for violating

confidentiality was pretext for unlawful retaliation.
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Viewing the evidence as a whole and inlight most favorable to Zamora, the Court
concludes that the facts of this case satisfy tind #lement of her prima case and give rise to an
inference of pretext. The TdnCircuit has explained thata“plaintiff’'s prima facie case,
combined with sufficient evidence to find that #raployer’s asserted justification is false, may
permit the trier of fact to conclude ththie employer unlawfully discriminated'®® “The
plaintiff need not show both th#ie defendant’s reasons werpratext and that the real reason
was discrimination—the fact of pretext alomay allow the inference of discriminatiot?®
Accordingly, the UG’s motion for summary judgment is denied.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COURT that UG’s Motion for Summary
Judgment (Doc. 75) denied

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated: November 15, 2019

s/ Julie A. Robinson
JULIE A. ROBINSON
CHIEF UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

Poebele v. Sprint United/Mgmt. G842 F.3d 1117, 1135 (10th Cir. 2003) (quotitepves v. Sanderson
Plumbing Prods., In¢530 U.S. 133, 148 (2000)).

159, at 1135-36 (citindReeves530 U.S. at 146-49).
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